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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF UTAH
CENTRAL DIVISION

NAVAJO NATION HUMAN RIGHTS
COMMISSION; PEGGY PHILLIPS; MARK
MARYBOY; WILFRED JONES; TERRY
WHITEHAT; BETTY BILLIE FARLEY;
WILLIE SKOW; and MABEL SKOW,
Case No. 2:16-cv-00154 IJNP

Plaintiffs,
V. MOTION TO DISMISS
AMENDED COUNTERCLAIMS
SAN JUAN COUNTY; JOHN DAVID WITH PREJUDICE

NIELSON, in his official capacity as San Juan
County Clerk; and PHIL LYMAN, BRUCE
ADAMS, and REBECCA BENALLY, in their
official capacities as San Juan County
Commissioners,

Defendants.

INTRODUCTION

Plaintiffs' Navajo Nation Human Rights Commission, Peggy PsillMark Maryboy;,
Wilfred Jones, Terry Whitehat, Betty Billie Farléyillie Skow, and Mabel Skow move to
dismiss, pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil Procedi2(b) and Local Rule 7-1, all five amended
counterclaims brought by Defendants San Juan Cpdahn David Nielson, Phil Lyman, Bruce
Adams, and Rebecca Benally for the following reason

» Defendants do not have standing to assert the Cliast.

* The Second Claim is not a claim at all; it is acthse.

! For clarity and ease of reading, Plaintiffs anditerclaim Defendants Navajo Nation Human Rights
Commission, Peggy Phillips, Mark Maryboy, Wilfreongs, Terry Whitehat, Betty Billie Farley, Willi&k&w, and
Mabel Skow are referred to as “Plaintiffs” througho Similarly, Defendants and Counterclaim PldistSan Juan
County, John David Nielson, Phil Lyman, Bruce Adaarsd Rebecca Benally are referred to as “Defestiant
throughout.
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» Defendant Benally is not allowed to bring the Thifdurth, and Fifth Claims because
she was not a party to the underlying action inih@ividual capacity and, moreover, she
failed to allege facts to support the requisiteredats of each.

As detailed more fully below, these critical omis®s are fatal to all of the Defendants’
allegations and mandate dismissal of the counierslavith prejudice.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

A. Complaint for Declaratory and Injunctive Relief

On February 25, 2016, Plaintiffs filed a compldont declaratory and injunctive relief to
remedy Defendants’ ongoing violations of the VotRights Act (“VRA”) and Fourteenth
Amendment of the United States Constitution (“Coanql’). SeeComplaint for Declaratory
and Injunctive Relief, ECF No. 2. Plaintiffs suedfendants San Juan County, county clerk
Nielson and county commissioners Lyman, Adams,Bemhlly in their official capacities only.
See id.

In 2014, the County switched to a mail-only sysfemits elections.Id. I 28. Under the
mail-only election system, the only location toevat-person in San Juan County, even on
Election Day, was in the County seat of Monticélltd. 1 7. To reach Monticello, Navajo
residents of San Juan County are required to tramedverage, more than twice as far to vote in
person in comparison to white residents of San @iamty. Id. The significantly greater
average distance required for Navajo residentamJsian County to reach the county seat of
Monticello interacts with socioeconomic factorg;luding high rates of poverty and less access

to reliable public and private transportation, #mel history of racial discrimination and hostility

2 Plaintiffs acknowledge that, after Plaintiffs tili¢he underlying action, likely in response to #lation Defendants
opened three additional polling places in Navajgemiy precincts in the County for the June 28 i likely in
response to Plaintiffs’ action. Answer 1, ECF. Hib; Counterclaim 1Y 46-47, ECF No. 40. Plaistifbntinue to
have concerns about whether the County is in futhgliance with their obligations under the VRA ahd
Fourteenth Amendment and that Defendants may swaitafail-only voting again in the future.
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toward Navajo residents, to place a severe burgen Mavajo residents who wish to vote in
person.ld. This burden falls substantially less heavilydrite residents of San Juan County.
Id. Defendants’ closure of polling places unreasbnhinders the ability of Navajo residents in
San Juan County to participate effectively in tbétjgal process on equal terms with white
residents.ld. 2.

Furthermore, Navajo is traditionally an unwritt@mdguage.ld. § 4. By closing polling
places, Defendants fail to provide adequate osas&sce to limited English-proficient Navajo
voters and thus the current electoral scheme ei®l8ection 203 of the Voting Rights Act, 52
U.S.C. § 10503ld. 1 4.

Prior to filing the Complaint, several organizasacorresponded with the County
regarding the mail-only elections, requesting fh@ling places be reopene&eed. 1 59, 61-
65. The last correspondence by the County Cladt fw filing the Complaint of which
Plaintiffs are aware was dated October 1, 2015 mrtdthe clerk explained that that County
was not planning to reopen polling places at tima¢t Id. I 63.

In light of these violations, Plaintiffs seek, angasther things, the following remedies in
their Complaint:

(1) Judgment declaring that Defendants’ closure ofipglblaces and maintenance
of a mail-only voting system in San Juan Countyates Section 203 of the
Voting Rights Act, Section 2 of the Voting RightstA52 U.S.C. § 10301, and
the fundamental right to vote as protected by theegtocess and equal
protection clauses of the Fourteenth Amendmertig¢dUnited States

Constitution; and
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(2) Injunctive relief mandating that Defendants reopelting sites equally
accessible to Navajo voters as to white votersfalhdompliance with the
County’s obligations under Section 203 of the VgtRights Act to provide full
translation, interpretation and assistance sentc®vajo speaking voters for
the 2016 state and county elections and for aliruelections.

Id. at Prayer for Relief.

B. Amended Counterclaim for Declaratory and Other Relef

On May 30, 2016, Defendants filed an Amended Caoulatien for Declaratory and Other
Relief (“Amended Counterclaim”)SeeAmended Counterclaim, ECF No. 74. They alleg&r
alia, that for both the 2016 County-wide primary elegstand the general election there “will be
three additional polling places open on election [tathe Navajo-majority precincts] to
accommodate those voters who wish to cast thdotdatperson” such that “no voter in the
County is more than a one-hour drive away frommapdrson voting location.” Amended
Counterclaim 11 38, 40. Moreover, they allege thiaboth elections, there will be a Navajo-
language audio translation “of the ballot itself available at each in-person voting location”
and Navajo language radio announcements aboutagigmibcedures on two radio stations prior
to the electionsld. 11 42, 43.

Further, Defendants allege Plaintiffs brought thdarlying action in bad faith because,
in part, they voted by mail in certain past eleasigincluding in 2014, when the only option to
vote was by mail!).ld. 1 78-111. Finally, Defendants allege Plaintiffse engaged in a
conspiracy, and filed the underlying lawsuit intharance of said conspiracy, in an effort to
control the election of the County Commissionenfistrict Three, a position currently held

by Defendant Benallyld. {1 114-125, 140-153.
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Defendants assert the following claims for relief:

(2) First Claim for Declaratory Relief, brought by Bléfendants, seeking a declaration
from this Court that San Juan County’s vote-by-rmasicedures fully comply with
both the Voting Rights Act and the Fourteenth Anreadt of the United States
Constitution, along with an award of attorneys's@eirsuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1988 and
52 U.S.C. § 10310(e);

(2) Second Claim for Declaratory Relief, brought byldifendants, seeking a finding by
the Court that the underlying action is without inend was not brought in good
faith, along with a finding that they are entitedan award of attorneys’ fees
pursuant to Utah Code § 78B-5-825;

(3) Third Claim for Civil Conspiracy Rights, brought Byefendant Benally seeking
punitive damages for Ms. Benally based on Plasitdfleged conspiracy to
undermine Ms. Benally’s support among Navajo voders deprive Navajo voters
who “are not able to vote in-person” of the equalt@ction of the law by filing this
lawsuit;

(4) Fourth Claim for Civil Rights, brought by Defendd@enally, under 42 U.S.C. 88
1981 and 1985(3) and 52 U.S.C. § 10307(b), basd®antiffs’ alleged conspiracy
to undermine Ms. Benally’s support among Navajex®and deprive Navajo voters
who “are to [sic] able to vote in-person” of theuafjprotection of the law by filing
this lawsuit. The claim also seeks punitive damageban award of attorneys’ fees
pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1988 and 52 U.S.C. § 1@310(

and
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(5) Fifth Claim for Abuse of Process, brought by DefamoBenally, based on Plaintiffs’
allegedly using the underlying action to allow Ctarolaim Defendant Maryboy,
Kenneth Maryboy, and Manual Morgan to reassumercbat the election of a
County Commissioner from District Three by suppiregshe vote of her supporters,
along with punitive damages.
See id 11 126-158. Defendant Benally generally asslesisshe is suing in both her official and
individual capacities, but she does not specifychtuounterclaims she is attempting to bring in
which capacity.Seed. 5.

GOVERNING STANDARDS

“[A] counterclaim differs from an answer or affiative defense. A counterclaim is used
when seeking affirmative relief, while an answeafiirmative defense seeks to defeat a
plaintiff's claim.” See Phila. Indem. Ins. Co. v. Chi. Title Ins.,G@1 F.3d 391, 401 (7th Cir.
2014);see also First Nat'l Bank v. R & L Wood Products;.INo. 89-6445, 1990 U.S. App.
LEXIS 19147, at *8 (6th Cir. Oct. 25, 1990) (unpsghkd) (distinguishing an affirmative defense
from a counterclaim as a response that only “ra]siedefense, and fails to allege a claim against
the plaintiff’); VP Props. & Devs., LLLP v. Seneca Specialty Ins, Bo. 15-11591, 2016 U.S.
App. LEXIS 4614, at *10 (11th Cir. Mar. 14, 2016npublished) (finding that a claim was an
affirmative defense, not a counterclaim, becaudalinot set forth any legal theory of recovery),
F.D.I.C. v. F.S.5.8829 F. Supp. 317, 322 n.11 (D. Alaska 1993) ("@etclaims are separate
claims independent of the plaintiff's underlyingich.”), Fed. R. Civ. P. 13(c) (“A counterclaim
need not diminish or defeat the recovery soughhbyopposing party.”).

Dismissal pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6) of the FedBraks of Civil Procedure is

appropriate “if the [claim] fails to state a claupon which relief can be granted, assuming all
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well-pleaded factual allegations are trudfbss v. Kopp505 F. Supp. 2d 1120, 1123 (D. Utah
2007) (citingSutton v. Utah State Sch. For Deaf & Blidd3 F.3d 1226, 1236 (10th Cir. 1999),
aff'd, 559 F.3d 1155 (10th Cir. 2009). “[A] court shdwaonsider only the well-pleaded
allegations, and not allow conclusory assertiorsatesfy the plaintiff’'s burden.’Moss 505 F.
Supp. 2d at 1123 (citinglliott Indus. Ltd. P’ship v. BP Am. Prod. Cd407 F.3d 1091, 1107
(10th Cir. 2005) (stating that “[a] motion to diswsifor failure to state a claim ‘admits all well-
pleaded facts in the complaint as distinguishethfoonclusory allegations.”)).

“To survive a motion to dismiss, a [claim] mushtan sufficient factual matter,
accepted as true, to state a claim to relief hatdausible on its face.Ashcroft v. Igbgl556
U.S. 662, 678 (2009) (internal quotation marks tedit. “A claim has facial plausibility when
the plaintiff pleads factual content that allows tourt to draw the reasonable inference that the
defendant is liable for the misconduct allegeltl” Legal conclusions are not accepted as true;
instead, they must be supported by fadtls.at 678-79.

The standard of review for a motion to dismissléak of subject matter jurisdiction
pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(1) based ondhe 6f the complaint is the same as the
standard under Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6). “The Sumar€ourt has directed that ‘[flor purposes of
ruling on a motion to dismiss for want of standingourts must accept as true all material
allegations of the complaint, and must construectimplaint in favor of the complaining
party.” Brown v. Herbert850 F. Supp. 2d 1240, 1244 (D. Utah 2012) (quodtiarth v. Seldin
422 U.S. 490, 501 (1975)).

ARGUMENT
As detailed below, this Court should dismiss aléfcounterclaims because none meet

the standards necessary to survive a motion toisksm
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The Defendants’ First Claim Is Not a Claim and, Eva if It Were, They Do Not
Have Standing to Assert the Claim.

In their First Claim, Defendants “seek a declarafimm this Court that San Juan
County’s vote-by-mail procedures as described heabove fully comply with both théoting
Rights Actand the~ourteenth Amendmenf the United StateSonstitution” Amended
Counterclaim 133, ECF No. 74 (emphasis in origjindhe Court should dismiss this claim for
two reasons. First, this “claim” is only a defehsehe underlying lawsuit. That is, Defendants
have alleged new facts about their stated inteitianove away from mail-only voting—
including opening three additional polling places @roviding Navajo language assistance at all
four polling places for the 2016 and future eletsie-and seek a judgment based on those
untested allegations. Defendants are thus orgyngiting to create a factual dispute, which is a
defense, not a counterclaim. Moreover, it is fifici@ivolous. In essence, Defendants claim that
someone else might sue them in the future if tlugrCdoes not rule on Plaintiffs’ claims.
Defendants will get the relief from this supposediy by adjudication of Plaintiffs’ claims, not
by being allowed to file an extraneous countercldiat simply asserts the opposite of what
Plaintiffs claim.

Similarly, Defendants’ claim for attorneys’ feestire Amended Counterclaim must be
dismissed, because there is no statutory basBdtandants to obtain attorneys’ fees, based on a
claim for declaratory relief. Defendants cannotlbemed “prevailing parties” for purposes of
the VRA, as their cause would “not advance anyefgurposes that Congress meant to promote
by making fees available.Shelby Cnty., Ala. v. Lyncii99 F.3d 1173, 1181 (D.C. Cir. 2015),
cert. denied136 S. Ct. 981, 194 L. Ed. 2d 4 (2016).

Second, the Defendants lack standing to bring itst Elaim. “[A] demand for

declaratory relief does not by itself confer staugdi Russell v. Fin. Capital Equitied58 Fed.
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Appx. 953, 955-56 (10th Cir. 2005) (unpublishednigm). The “irreducible constitutional
minimum of standing contains three elementsujan v. Defs. of Wildlife504 U.S. 555, 560.
“First, the plaintiff must have suffered an ‘injuiryfact’.... Second, there must be a causal
connection between the injury and the conduct cametl of.... Third, it must be ‘likely,” as
opposed to merely ‘speculative,’ that the injuryl Wwe ‘redressed by a favorable decisionld.
at 560-61 (internal citations omitted). Furthda]fi injury-in-fact is an invasion of lagally
protected interesthat is (a) concrete and particularized and @tyal or imminent.”Utah
Animal Rights Coal. v. Salt Lake City Cqrp71 F.3d 1248, 1255 (T(L‘ir. 2004) (emphasis
added).

Here, Defendants have no injury, and thereforetaiodsng, to bring the first claim
because (1) neither the VRA nor the Fourteenth Atmreamt, the authorities alleged in the First
Claim, confer any legal protections on countietheir officials acting in their official capacities
that Defendants allege were violated by Plaintifgy;Defendants’ request for a declaratory
judgment does not independently create standirgdy(@nDefendants’ claim for attorneys’ fees
does not suffice as an injury.

Although Defendants reference the VRA and the feaumth Amendment as the basis for
their First Claim, they fail to explain the natuftheir threatened “legally protected interest”
which is supposedly protected under the VRA andteeanth AmendmentUtah Animal Rights
Coal, 371 F.3d at 1255. To advance that claim in@usirt, they need a congressionally
created right of action, and they have none.

In general, the VRA creates a cause of action farlynembers of those classes of
persons protected by the statute (i.e., raciahietland language minoritiespee52 U.S.C. §

10302;Thornburg v. Gingles478 U.S. 30, 43 (U.S. 1986) (“Subsection 2(a}hef Voting
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Rights Act] prohibits all States and political subsions from imposingnyvoting

gualifications or prerequisites to voting, or atgrglards, practices, or procedures which result in
the denial or abridgment of the right to vote oy aitizen who is a member ofpaotected class
of racial and language minoritie§ (emphasis added). The one exception is Sed#igh),

which provides that certain challenges to the ex@ability of specific provisions of the VRA
may be brought only in the United States Distriou@ for the District of ColumbiaSee52
U.S.C. § 10310(b). Here, the Defendants do ndt aakeclaration that any portion of the VRA
is unenforceable and they have not brought thaintin the United States District Court for the
District of Columbia. Rather, they seek a declarathat their actions do not violate the VRA
and filed their countersuit in the District Couftldtah. There is no provision in the VRA that
allows Defendants to bring, or the Court to hdas tlaim.

Defendants’ request for a declaratory judgment aa¢sndependently create standing.
Standing in the underlying matter is required faoart to issue a declaratory judgme8ee
Jordan v. Sos&54 F.3d 1012, 1025 (10th Cir. 2011) (“[W]hat resla declaratory judgment
action a proper judicial resolution of a case artooversy rather than an advisory opinion is the
settling of some dispute”). In the words of thenffeCircuit, “a demand for declaratory relief
does not by itself confer standingRussell v. Fin. Capital Equitied58 F. App’x 953, 955 (10th
Cir. 2005) (unpublished opinion). Therefore, Defants request for a declaratory judgment
under 28 USC § 2201 does not cure their lack ofstey under either the VRA or the
Fourteenth Amendment.

Defendants’ allegation that “unless the Court raleghe legality of San Juan County’s
vote-by-mail procedures, the County will remain esgd to future challenges to those

procedures by other plaintiffs” is also not an ngjtor the purposes of standing. Amended

10
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Counterclaim Y 134, ECF No. 74. Simply put, thharm” is too speculative to merit
consideration by this Court. The Tenth Circuit hakl that “an injury in fact must be actual or
imminent, not conjectural or hypothetical. Allegets of possible future injury do not satisfy the
requirements of Article 11l . . . [a]n Article lihjury must be more than a possibilitySmith v.
United States Court of Appeak84 F.3d 1281, 1285 (10th Cir. 2007) (quothmyva Health Sys.
v. Gandy 416 F.3d 1149, 1155 (10th Cir. 2005)). Currerftiyure litigation seeking changes to
Defendants unconstitutional voting procedures im@s$t a possibility. Moreover, Defendants
have not cited any authority that recognizes timd bf “harm” as one that is sufficient to
convey standing. Nor would one expect to find amgh authority: followed to its logical end,
Defendants’ position is that anyone has standirgitay any suit, since any party can reasonably
claim that they wish to avoid future litigation.

Finally, Defendants’ claim in the First Amended @Gtarclaim for attorneys’ fees does
not suffice as an injurySee Steel Co. v. Citizens for a Better Er828 U.S. 83, 107 (1998)
(“[A] plaintiff cannot achieve standing to litigatesubstantive issue by bringing suit for the cost
of bringing suit. The litigation must give the piaff some other benefit besides reimbursement
of costs that are a byproduct of the litigatiorlits); Lewis v. Cont’'| Bank Corp494 U.S. 472,
480 (1990) (an “interest in attorney’s fees iscofirse, insufficient to create an Article Ill case
or controversy where none exists on the meritb@funderlying claim”).

Therefore, this Court should dismiss DefendantstRClaim.
Il. The Defendants’ Second Claim Is Not a Claim for Redf.

In their Second Claim, Defendants seek a declardhiat the Underlying Actions
without merit and was not brought in good faitthimended Counterclaim § 137, ECF No. 74

(emphasis in original). They further seek an avddrattorneys’ fees pursuant to Utah Code §

11



Case 2:16-cv-00154-JNP-BCW Document 93 Filed 07/15/16 Page 12 of 26

78B-5-825, a “miscellaneous” subsection of Utalididial Code on “Procedure and Evidence,”
which allows state courts to “award reasonablagtpfees to a prevailing party if the court
determines that the action or defense to the aetaswithout merit and not brought or asserted
in good faith.”

The Court should dismiss this for several reasdtist, Defendants’ assertion that the
underlying action is “without merit” is a defensmt a counterclaim. Counterclaims are
“separate claims independent of the plaintiff's ertging claim.” F.D.1.C., 829 F. Supp. at 322
n.11 (distinguishing counterclaims from affirmatdefenses, which “challenge the underlying
liability”); seeFed. R. Civ. P. 13(c) (“A counterclaim need not ithish or defeat the recovery
sought by the opposing party.”). Defendants’ agsels not a separate claim independent of
Plaintiffs’ underlying claim, and therefore is rast appropriate allegation for a counterclaim.
F.D.I.C, 829 F. Supp. at 322 n.11. Defendants are frpedoeed by way of motion to dismiss
or motion for summary judgment, if appropriate; they are not free to assert an affirmative
claim on this basis.

Moreover, a counterclaim is not the correct contexDefendants’ allegation that the
underlying action was “not brought in good faitlPAmended Counterclaim § 137, ECF No. 74.
The purported declaration Defendants seek in tiker®@eClaim is in reality a fruitless attempt to
use a statute detailing Utah state court procedsig@vehicle to seek attorney fees in this federal
guestion action. There is no basis on which UtadeC§ 78B-5-825, the cited state statute on
court procedure for seeking attorney fees, apphig¢isis action. Federal courts “are not free to
fashion drastic new rules with respect to the alloge of attorneys’ fees to the prevailing party
in federal litigation . . ."Alyeska Pipeline Serv. Co. v. Wilderness SatAl U.S. 240, 269

(1975).

12
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Therefore, this Court should dismiss Defendantsofd Claim.

1. The Third, Fourth and Fifth Claims Are Improperly B rought by Defendant Benally
in her “Individual Capacity” and Lack Merit.

While Defendant Benally does not specify in whiglpacity she attempts to plead her
Third, Fourth, and Fifth Claims, none of the clainave a plausible connection to her official
duties as a San Juan County Commissioner. Alththege claims plead no cognizable (or
recognizable) legal theory, the underlying factahter around a supposed conspiracy to
damage Defendant Benally politically. None of théscts have anything to do with any official
activity or duty she undertakes as a Commissioi@e conclusory, implausible, and factually
inaccurate allegation in the Third and Fourth Ckthmat a return to in-person voting would
somehow mean that people could not also vote bidoas not alter this analysis. Thus, the
Third, Fourth, and Fifth Claims can only plausibly read as being brought by Defendant
Benally in her individual capacity.

These counterclaims must be dismissed becausdiffdaimly sued Defendant Benally
in her official capacity. Even taking her allegais as true, Defendant Benally asserts
accusations related solely to her political positig which have no bearing on the deprivation of
rights at issue and attempts to do so in a sepeaapi&city from the one in which she is a party in
the underlying action.

Only a party to a lawsuit is allowed to bring a otarclaim. See Banco Nacional de
Cuba v. Chase Manhattan Bar68 F.2d 875, 886 (2d Cir. 1981) (explaining “treditional

view is that a defendant may counterclaim onlyhie ¢apacity in which he has been sued”). In

% Further, it is unclear whether the conflict ofeirést between Defendant Benally and the partieedars
defendants in the underlying action is waivablespite their representation by the same counseht iEhto the
extent that Defendant Benally asserts that sedkiogen additional polling places is part of a giracy to deprive
her of rights, her personal interests are in diceciflict with the underlying action of Defendanit#)o have alleged
that they intend to open additional polling places.

13
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this case, Defendant Benally is not a party touth@erlying action in her individual capacity,
only her official capacity, and is being sued fafyoequitable relief in the underlying action. As
a legal matter, suing her for equitable reliefia tinderlying action in her official capacity i€th
same as suing San Juan Courfige Bender v. Williamsport Area School D&T5 U.S. 534,
544-45 n.6 (1986) (explaining suing an officiahier official capacity is the same as suing the
governmental entity she represents, and that affanid personal capacities are “two different
legal personages”). Courts in similar situatioagéhfound that parties sued in separate
capacities are not allowed to bring counterclaifeg e.g, Banco Nacional de Cub&58 F.2d
at 885-86 (precluding defendant from asserting te&rgtaims in its capacity as trustee where
defendant was not sued in such capacidyisham v. Bunn85 F. Supp. 530, 531 (E.D. Pa. 1949)
(precluding defendant, sued in his personal capdecdm bringing counterclaim in his
representative capacity on behalf of the City afdelelphia).

Should the Court decide to evaluate whether thed] Rourth and Fifth Claims state a
claim for relief, however, this Court should dismthe claims for the reasons below.

A. Defendant Benally’s Third Claim Fails to State a Chim for which Relief can
be Granted.

In Defendant Benally’s Third Claim, it appears thhé is alleging that Plaintiffs have
committed the tort of Civil Conspiracy. The UtahpBeme Court has stated that the elements of
a Civil Conspiracy claim are: “(1) a combinationta® or more persons, (2) an object to be
accomplished, (3) a meeting of the minds on theailgr course of action, (4) one or more
unlawful, overt acts, and (5) damages as a proemesult thereof.”"SeePohl, Inc. of Am. v.
Webelhuth201 P.3d 944, 954-55 (Utah 2008).

First, the Third Claim is based on a misleadingpmect, and implausible interpretation

of the intent behind the allegations of Plaintif&mplaint. In their Amended Counterclaim,

14



Case 2:16-cv-00154-JNP-BCW Document 93 Filed 07/15/16 Page 15 of 26

Defendants ask the Court to read the Complaintchvbinallenges a vote by maihly system, as
seeking to “requir[e] San Juan County to do awah wote-by mail and to re-open polling
locations.” Amended Counterclaim § 74, ECF No. The invented object and agreement of the
supposed conspiracy are the same: to totally editaimote by mail in San Juan Countgl.
141. This assertion is not a factual allegatiat the court must take as true, but a legal
conclusion about what the court should take the @aimt to mean, which the Court need not
accept.See Igbal556 U.S. at 678-7%ee also Navajo Nation v. San Juan Gritpn. 2:12-CV-
00039-RJS-DPB, 2016 WL 697120, at *12, 13-14 (aHJEeb. 19, 2016) (Judge Shelby
reasoning various times that the court reads dontsiie understand their meaning, and does not
simply accept the County’s interpretation of wied County believes the document means.)
Completely eliminating vote by mail is not the adije@mplicit or express, of the
underlying action. The complaint in the underlyaion is limited to remediating the statutory
and constitutional violations arising from teeclusiveuse of vote by mail for elections in San
Juan County, and does not allege or imply that agtenail in addition to reopening polling
places is problematic in any way. The object efdinderlying action is to ensure equal
opportunities and access to voting for all votarSan Juan County regardless of race, and
eliminating vote by mail is not a plausible impligdal of such a suit. It certainly is not a goal
stated in the relief expressly sought, either.tlf@rmore, it is not plausible to conclude that by
asking for polling places to be reopened, it fokbavat there must be no voting by mail at all. In

at least one county in Utah, Salt Lake County,tedas are conducted with both mail-in voting

and at vote in person optionSeehttp://www.slcgov.com/electiondast visited July 14, 2016).

15
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Because Defendants have asserted a fictional cdojpelcagreement based on an
implausible allegation about the object of the uthyleg action, they have failed to successfully
allege the second and third elements of their doasp

Moreover, Defendant Benally does not plead anyawifil, overt acts” taking place after
the election of Defendant Benally to the positibestrict Commissioner. Furthermore,
Defendants have failed to allege any facts thatgabdy support a conclusion that Defendant
Benally has suffered any damages as a result @libged conspiracy. Rather, they offer a
blanket statement that “Defendant Benally has beemed.” Amended Counterclaim 144,
ECF No. 74. As Defendants have not successfudlgt fActs plausibly supporting all the
required elements of the tort of Civil Conspirathye Third Claim should be dismissed under
Rule 12(b) for failure to state a claim.

Defendant Benally has also failed to plead the s&any elements of a Conspiracy to
Interfere with Civil Rights under 42 U.S.C. § 198p( As is discussed in more detail in
Subsections B and C, below, the elements of a dlaider 42 U.S.C. § 1985(3) are (1) a
conspiracy; (2) to deprive plaintiff of equal protien or equal privileges and immunities; (3) an
act in furtherance of the conspiracy; and (4) qurynor deprivation resulting therefrongee
Tilton v. Richardson6 F.3d 683, 686 (10th Cir. 1993). Additionallye plaintiff must plausibly
allege that a class-based or racially discriminatootive lurks behind the conspiratorial
activities. See id

Defendant Benally has failed to plead facts thatilv@stablish that the purported
conspiracy aimed to deprive her of equal proteabioaqual privileges and immunities, that the
purported conspiracy was driven by a class-basedoally discriminatory motive, or that she

has suffered an injury or deprivation as a resuhe purported conspiracy. Rather, as explained
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further below, she simply states those legal cachs without any allegations from which the
Court could find those conclusions to be plausiMeich does not effectively state a claim.

B. Defendant Benally’s Fourth Claim Fails to Allege tle Requisite Elements for
a Civil Rights Violation Under Each Statute.

In the Fourth Claim, Defendant Benally alleges tlaintiffs’ actions violated “42
U.S.C. 88 1981 and 1985(3) as well as 52 U.S.C183®7(b).” Amended Counterclaim 1 149,
ECF No. 74. This Court should dismiss the Fourtdir@ for failure to state a claim because
Defendant Benally does not allege facts suffictergstablish that Plaintiffs violated her civil
rights under any of the three statutes relied ugesd. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6).

1. 42 U.S.C. §1981

In short, 42 U.S.C. § 1981 guarantees all persqualeights to “make and enforce
contracts.” See42 U.S.C. § 1981 (afaint Francis Coll. v. Al-Khazrgj481 U.S. 604, 609
(1987) (stating § 1981 “forbid[s] all ‘racial’ dismination in the making of private as well as
public contracts”). “[T]he term ‘make and enformantracts’ includes the making, performance,
modification, and termination of contracts, and éngpyment of all benefits, privileges, terms,
and conditions of the contractual relationship2 U.S.C. § 1981(b).

When asserting a claim under 8§ 1981, the plaitifist initially identify an impaired
‘contractual relationship’ ... under which the plainihas rights.” Domino’s Pizza, Inc. v.
McDonald 546 U.S. 470, 470 (2006). Further, the plairitifist identify injuries flowing from
a racially motivated breach” of their contractuglationship.Id. at 480;see also Weseman v.
Meeker Cnty.659 F. Supp. 1571, 1575 (D. Minn. 1987) (failtoallege “discrimination based
on race, alienage, ancestry, or ethnic charadterisneans that plaintiff's claim must fail).

Defendant Benally has failed to allege either reig@icomponent of a 8 1981 claim. She

has not identified an impaired contractual relaglip or asserted that her alleged injuries flow

17



Case 2:16-cv-00154-JNP-BCW Document 93 Filed 07/15/16 Page 18 of 26

from a racially motivated breach of such contrakctaktionship. Given that she has not pleaded
any facts that would support a 42 U.S.C. § 198ihglthis Court should dismiss her claim under
Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 12(b)(6).

2. 42U.S.C.§1985(3)

The elements of a claim under 42 U.S.C. 8§ 1985 B a conspiracy; (2) to deprive
plaintiff of equal protection or equal privilegescaimmunities; (3) an act in furtherance of the
conspiracy; and (4) an injury or deprivation resgjtherefrom.Tilton, 6 F.3d at 686. To
prevail on a claim under § 1985(3), the plaintitfishprove a discriminatory motive; in other
words, a plaintiff must establish that a class-daweracially discriminatory motive lurks behind
the conspiratorial activitiesSee id(“[Section] 1985(3) does not ‘apply to all tortgu
conspiratorial interferences with the rights ofesly’ but rather, only to conspiracies motivated
by ‘some racial, or perhaps otherwise class-baseitliously discriminatory animus.”).

Defendant Benally fails to sufficiently allege acliminatory motive behind Plaintiffs’
purported conspiracy or that “an injury” resultagedo the alleged conspiracy. The conclusory
statements that “Plaintiff Benally has been harnmaeati that the alleged conspiracy was
“motivated by racial animus,” Amended Countercldifn147, 151, ECF No. 74, are unsupported
by any facts pleaded in the Amended Countercld#oreover, Defendant Benally’s alleged
deprivation of rights is that she would like thieuCt to interpret the underlying action as seeking
to eliminate any form of vote by mail in San Juasu@ty. See id{ 148. As explained above,
this legal conclusion is an implausible one, asutéerlying action is centered on protecting
equal access to voting for Navajo voters in Sam fizunty and does not expressly or impliedly

complain about non-exclusive use of vote by mail.
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As previously discussed, “[t]o survive a motiordiemiss, a [claim] must contain
sufficient factual matter, accepted as true, tatést claim to relief that is plausible on its féce
Igbal, 556 U.S. at 678 (internal quotation marks omjtted\ claim has facial plausibility when
the plaintiff pleads factual content that allows tourt to draw the reasonable inference that the
defendant is liable for the misconduct allegeltl” Legal conclusions are not accepted as true;
instead, they must be supported by fatts.at 678-79. Defendant Benally has failed to mieet t
pleading standard undigbal and, therefore, this Court should dismiss Defeh8amally’s 42
U.S.C. § 1985(3) claim under Federal Rule of GRribcedure 12(b)(6).

3. 52 U.S.C. § 10307(b)

Commonly known as Section 11(b) of the VRA, 52 €. 10307(b) prohibits actions
that,inter alia, “intimidate, threaten, or coerce, or attemptntiinnidate, threaten, or coerce any
person for voting or attempting to vote.” 52 U.S§CL0307(b) (formerly codified at 42 U.S.C. 8
1973i). To succeed on a claim under Section 1&(p)aintiff must: (1) establish either an act to
intimidate or an attempt to intimidate and (2) shbat “the act was done with the specific intent
to intimidate or attempt to intimidate Parson v. AlcornNo. 3:16-cv-00013-MHL, 2016 WL
206466, at *12 (E.D. Va. Jan. 15, 2016) (citkagues v. Russoniel|l@70 F.2d 791, 804 (9th
Cir. 1985) (noting that even assuming that pldisitévidence showed that voters were
intimidated when officials searched voting recoglajntiffs could not succeed for failure to
show that the officials intended to intimidate}ifey United States v. McLep@85 F.2d 734,
740-41 (5th Cir. 1967)).

Defendant Benally has not alleged any intimidatibreat, or coercion concernihgr
ability to “vot[e] or attempt[ ] to vote.” 52 U.6. § 10307(b). While the Counterclaim alleges

that Plaintiff Maryboy, among others, “coerced™mtimidated” unnamed voters by being
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present at polling locations and visiting seniantees, the Counterclaim does not claim tat
Benallywas intimidated by Mr. Maryboy’s alleged actionsthat she was even present at the
polling places or senior centers at the time MrryW¥ay allegedly visited. Amended
Counterclaim 11 63-64, ECF No. 74. While Mr. Maoylnlenies that he coerced or intimidated
anyone, even taking it as true that he did, Ms.algmoes not claim that he coerced or
intimidated her personally, and she cannot claandihg based on alleged injury to othérs.
See, e.gLujan, 504 U.S. at 563 (“[T]he ‘injury in fact’ test remes more than an injury to a
cognizable interest. It requires that the partksegreview be himself among the injured.”).
Moreover, Defendant Benally has offered no allegafrom which the Court could plausibly
conclude that any of the Plaintiffstendedto intimidate, threaten, or coerce her (or anyeise
for that matter).See Olagues/70 F.2d at 804. Thus, under the pleading stasdsstablished
by the U.S. Supreme Courtligbal, this Court should dismiss Defendant Benally’d b3.C. §
10307(b) claim under Federal Rule of Civil Procedii2(b)(6).

C. Defendant Benally’s Fifth Claim Fails to Allege theRequisite “Wilful Act”
Element for Abuse of Process.

In the Fifth Claim, Defendant Benally alleges tR#&intiffs’ underlying lawsuit “is an
abuse of process ... commenced and ... continueddadntproper, unlawful and ulterior
purpose of allowing Counterclaim Defendant Marybignneth Maryboy and Manual Morgan
to reassume control of the election of a County @dssioner from District Three by
suppressing the vote of her supporters.” Amendmeh@rclaim § 155, ECF No. 74. This Court

should dismiss this claim for failure to state airtl because Ms. Benally does not allege facts

* While Defendants allege that these actions wizgdl and intimidating, they provide no plausibllegations
supporting a conclusion that these actions wersingly the regular, legal acts of any politicaimgaign trying to
drum up support.
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concerning the requisite wilful act separate arartaijpom the legal process underlying the
claim.

As confirmed by the Tenth Circuit citing the UtabpBeme Court, “[t]Jo establish a claim
for abuse of process in Utah, the claimant musivgfi) an ulterior purpose in bringing the suit,
and (2) a wilful act in the use of the processproper in the regular conduct of the
proceedings.”’Rusakiewicz v. Low®&56 F.3d 1095, 1103 (10th Cir. 2009) (citidgtch v.

Davis 147 P.3d 383, 389 (Utah 2006)). To satisfy théftil act” element, “a party must point
to conduct independent of the legal process ithelf corroborates the alleged improper
purpose.” Rusakiewicz556 F.3d at 1103 (quotirtgatch, 147 P.3d at 389). Importantly, both
the Tenth Circuit and the Utah Supreme Court hake@vledged that the wilful act
requirement cannot “simply be reduced to the ‘lggaktess that the tortfeasor pursues according
to his ulterior motive.” Id. at 1104 (internal citations omitted). Said anothiay, “filing a

lawsuit and performing ordinary acts in the regalaurse of the legal proceedings is not abuse
of process even if the goals of the lawsuit aramefis and improper.1d. Therefore, “the

‘wilful act’ requirement requires objective prodfthe improper purpose in the form of an
independent act that ‘corroborates the allegedopgrr purpose.’”ld. (internal citations

omitted).

In Rusakiewiczthe Tenth Circuit affirmed the district court'’sihissal of the abuse of
process claim because the alleged wilful act ine@dlsettlement offers, which both courts
regarded as “part of, not an act outside of, tigaileg conduct of legal process.” 556. F.3d at
1104. The Tenth Circuit relied heavily bfatch, in which the Utah Supreme Court observed the
following critical distinctions regarding the “wilf act” requirement:

It is easy to slip into the conceptual trap of dyngefining the
“wilful act” as the legal process that the torti@aspursues
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according to his ulterior motive. Such a defimtiavould,

however, render the “wilful act” requirement supsstis. Under

it, a party would only be required to link a badtiwe to an event

having the hallmarks of legal process to statemrl
147 P.3d at 389. Ultimately, the Utah Supreme Calffirmed reversal of the trial court’s
verdict against the counterclaim defendant for elmigprocess because even though there was
“no question” regarding the counterclaim defendatithproper purpose” in instigating the
underlying lawsuit, the Defendant “alleged the #ase of no act that met” the wilful act
requirement. 147 P.3d at 389-90.

While Plaintiffs deny any ulterior purpose in bring the underlying action, even taking
as true that there was such a motive, DefendardlB&nabuse of process claim must fail
because she has not pleaded the wilful act elesudgfitiently. Defendants allege that in
response to Ms. Benally defeating Counterclaim Baddéat Mark Maryboy for the District Three
County Commissioner office, Mr. Maryboy, his bratikenneth Maryboy, their political ally
Manual Morgan, and eventually Leonard Gorman ofNagajo Nation Human Rights
Commission (“NNHRC”) formed a conspiracy in spri2@l5 to initiate a “sham lawsuit to
challenge San Juan County’s use of vote-by-maiiended Counterclaim §{ 114-15, 117-21,
ECF No. 74. Additionally, Defendants allege threg NNHRC aided and abetted this scheme
along with Plaintiffs Phillips, Jones, Whitehatyleg, Willie Skow, and Mabel Skow by
“agree[ing] to take part in that conspiracyd. { 122. Defendants allege that “[t]he overt acts
committed by Counterclaim Defendant[s] ... in furdnere of this conspiracy consisted of,
among other things, fabricating claims against Genataim Plaintiffs which resulted in their
bring [sic] of theUnderlying Actior. Id. § 123 (emphasis in original). Thus, according to

Defendant Benally’s “Fifth Claim for Abuse of Prasg’ the Plaintiffs initiated this lawsuit “for

the improper, unlawful and ulterior purpose of aflag Counterclaim Defendant Maryboy,
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Kenneth Maryboy and Manual Morgan to reassume obatrthe election of a County
Commissioner from District Three by suppressingubie of her supporters.id. § 155. To the
contrary, Plaintiffs’ purpose in bringing the unigerg lawsuit was to remedy violations of the
VRA and the U.S. Constitution.

Defendant Benally alleges no facts to support teemcthat the Maryboys, Mr. Morgan,
and Mr. Gorman brought the underlying action a$ gba conspiracy against her following her
election as County Commissioner. FurthermoreAfnended Counterclaim fails to “point to
conduct independent of the legal process itsetfcbaoborates the alleged improper purpose”
of the claimed conspiracyRusakiewicz556 F.3d at 1103 (citingatch, 147 at 389). Instead,
Defendant Benally baldly asserts the underlyingpacind unspecified “overt acts” as support
for her abuse of process claim, while qualifyinggé allegations with the hollow and transparent
catch-all phrase “among other things.” Amendedr@erclaim 123, ECF No. 74. In doing so,
Defendant Benally merely “link[s] a bad motive o @ent having the hallmarks of legal
process,'Hatch 147 P.3d at 389. Indeed, Defendant Benally see&asnare this Court into the
“conceptual trap of simply defining the ‘wilful aets the legal process that the [alleged]
tortfeasor pursues according to [the] ulterior mati 1d. Therefore, with the guidance of the
Tenth Circuit inRusakiewicand the Utah Supreme CourtHiatch, this Court should seize on

Defendant Benally’s failure to allege a wilful aetd dismiss the Fifth Claim.
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CONCLUSION

As demonstrated above, none of the Defendantshslaan survive Plaintiffs’ motion to
dismiss, and, as a result, this Court should dsmliscounterclaims with prejudice.
Dated this 15th day of July, 2016.
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